Supreme Court No. 938)

(Court of Appeals No.72065-1-I)

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM AND SHALAWN LEAHY,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

٧.

# QUALITY LOAN SERVICES OF WASHINTON,

Defendant-Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

William Leahy Shalawn Leahy 2380 – 226<sup>th</sup> St. SW Brier, WA 98036 – 8126 (425) 775-4845

#

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Whether, under the factual circumstances of this case,

  Quality was authorized by the DTA to record a NOTS in the

  absence of the prior issuance of a NOD that met the requirements of

  RCW 61.24.030(8).
- (2) Whether, without issuing a new NOD, Quality was authorized to record a NOTS on September 19, 2012 ("NOTS 3").

#### IV STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Leahys' mortgage debt fell into default on or about March 1, 2009. *Verbatim Report of Proceedings, December 6, 2013* ("RP1"), at 6: 3-4; CP at 300. Evidence of the mortgage debt obligation consisted of a promissory note ("Note") and a Deed of Trust ("DOT") that secured the obligation.

RCW 61.24.030(8) requires a NOD to be transmitted to the borrower at least 30 days prior to the recording, transmitting, or serving of a notice of trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.040(1) prohibits the sale of the property until at least ninety days have elapsed following the recording and mailing of the notice of trustee's sale. And RCW

61.24.040(2) requires the trustee to include a copy of a "notice of foreclosure" with the notice of trustee's sale that is mailed to the borrower.

In the absence of a bankruptcy or preliminary injunction, RCW 61.24.040(6) prohibits the trustee from continuing the sale of a property, for any reason, for more than 120 days beyond the original sale date.

On or about April 9, 2010, Quality, purporting to act as the "authorized agent" for the WaMu Mortgage Pass-Through
Certificates Series 2006-AR15 Trust ("Trust"), commenced a nonjudicial foreclosure against the Leahys' property located at 9745
Phinney Ave N., Seattle, WA 98103 ("Property") by transmitting a
so-called NOD to the Leahys.² *RP1* at 7: 8-10. The so-called NOD
did not contain many of the items of information *required* by RCW
61.24.030(8)(a) – (l) to be included in a NOD³: (1) contained the
name, but *not* the address, of the Trust;⁴ 2) listed Washington
Mutual Bank ("WMB"), a company that had been out of business
for 1 year and 8 months by the time the NOD was transmitted to
Plaintiffs, as the loan servicer;⁵ 3) provided JPMorgan Chase's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The NOD identifies the Trust as the owner of the Note and beneficiary of the DOT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP at 299-302.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A violation of RCW 61.24.030(8)(1).

("Chase's") Florida address as WMB's address; 4) did not provide Chase's name as the loan servicer; 5) did not provide a telephone number for Chase, as the actual loan servicer, or WMB, as the alleged loan servicer; 6) did not provide an exact amount that Plaintiffs must pay to reinstate the Note and DOT; 7) listed Quality's address as the Trust's (beneficiary's) address; 10 and 8) indicated Quality was the successor trustee, even though Quality was "appointed" the "successor trustee" on July 13, 2010, more than 3 months *after* the NOD was transmitted. 11

Additionally, the so-called NOD was never reissued even though: (1) it expired when the original foreclosure proceeding terminated by operation of law on February 20, 2011. And, even without considering the extinguishment by operation of law, Quality voluntarily destroyed the so-called NOD's legal effectiveness by voluntarily discontinuing the second foreclosure proceeding on September 28, 2012.

On July 21, 2010, Respondent recorded the first Notice of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A violation of RCW 61.24.030(8)(1)

<sup>6</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id*. <sup>−</sup>

<sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>9</sup> A violation of RCW 61.24.030(8)(f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A violation of RCW 61.24.030(8)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This is a violation of Quality's RCW 61.24.010(3) legal obligation to avoid incurring a fiduciary duty to any "persons having an interest in the property subject to the deed of trust." The Trust's security interest in the property is "an interest in the property."

Trustee's Sale ("NOTS 1"). *RP1* at 7: 20-22; *CP* at 311. Section VI of NOTS 1 states the April 9, 2010 NOD is NOTS 1's antecedent in the foreclosure process. *CP* at 312. Additionally, NOTS 1 sets

October 22, 2010 as the *original sale date*. *CP* at 311. The 120th day after October 22, 2010 was February 19, 2011.

October 22, 2010 came and went without any attempt to publicly auction the Property or to continue the sale to another date. February 19, 2011 came and went without any attempt to publicly auction the Property. On February 20, 2011, pursuant to the provisions of RCW 61.24.040(6), the initial foreclosure proceeding terminated by operation of law.

The second attempt to foreclose the Property commenced on July 12, 2012, *five hundred and eight (508) days after February 19, 2011. RP1* at 9: 3-5. On July 12<sup>th</sup>, Respondent recorded a second notice of trustee's sale ("NOTS 2"). *Id.* The recording of NOTS 2 was not preceded by the issuance of a new NOD. Section VI of NOTS 2, like Section VI of NOTS 1, claims the original so-called NOD as its antecedent *(CP* at 316).

NOTS 2 set November 9, 2012 as the new sale date. *CP* at 315. November 9, 2012 was 749 days after October 22, 2010, the original sale day, and 628 days after February 19, 2011, the last

date upon which the Property could lawfully be sold pursuant to the original foreclosure proceeding. On September 28, 2012, Quality voluntarily discontinued the sale set by NOTS 2.

On September 19, 2012, while the second foreclosure proceeding was still active, Quality attempted to commence a third foreclosure proceeding by recording the third and final NOTS ("NOTS 3"). *CP* at 323. This third attempt to foreclose was not preceded by the issuance of a new NOD. Section VI of NOTS 3, like the Section VIs of NOTSs 1 and 2, claims the original so-called NOD as its antecedent in the foreclosure proceeding (*CP* at 324). NOTS 3 set January 18, 2013 as the new sale date. *CP* at 323.

January 18, 2013 was 819 days after October 22, 2010, the original sale date, and 698 days after February 19, 2011, the last date upon which the Property could lawfully be sold pursuant to the original foreclosure proceeding.

The sale occurred on January 18, 2013.

#### V. ARGUMENT

In Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc.,
174 Wn.2d 560 (2012) the Court found that procedural
irregularities, such as those that divest a trustee of authority to

conduct a sale, can invalidate a sale. *Albice*, 174 Wn.2d at 565. The Court cited *Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services*, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 911 (2007) as direct support for this finding.

The *Udall* Court determined that a trustee may not withhold delivery of a trustee's deed "unless the sale itself was void due to a procedural irregularity that defeated the trustee's authority to sale the property." *Udall*, 159 Wn.2d at 911. The *Udall* Court cited *Cox v*. *Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 388, 693 P,2d 683 (1985) (suit brought by borrower prevented the trustee's initiation of foreclosure) as the example of a case in which procedural irregularities defeated a trustee's authority to sell a property. As the *Udall* Court pointed out, the sale in *Cox* was a violation of RCW 61.24.030(4), a subsection of RCW 61.24.030. *Id*.

## A. RCW 61.24.030 – Requisites to Trustee's Sale

RCW Section 61.24.030 is entitled "Requisites to a Trustee's Sale." Thus, *Albice*, by citing *Udall*, a case that rests on the holding in *Cox*, as authority for the proposition that a sale conducted in violation of RCW 61.24.040(6) exceeds the trustee's authority and must be invalidated, confirmed that the holding in *Albice* applies with equal force to sales conducted in violation of any of the provisions of RCW 61.24.030. The specific subsection of RCW 61.24.030 that was

violated in Cox was RCW 61.24.030(4).

More recently, in *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group*, *LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) a different subsection of RCW 61.24.030 was violated, but the result was the same. Moreover, in that case, this Court made it perfectly clear that a violation of any one of the eight subsections of RCW 61.24.030 would result in invalidation of the sale.

The primary question before the Court in *Schroeder* was whether the parties to a deed of trust could waive the statutory requirement contained in RCW 61.24.030(2) that agricultural land must be foreclosed judicially. Schroeder, 297 P.3d at 679. Schroeder had signed a settlement agreement and a separate contract, each, waiving the right to claim the land was agricultural land in the event of a subsequent default. Moreover, the deed of trust at issue in *Schroeder* specifically stated that the land had not been used, and would not be used, for agricultural purposes. *Id.*, at 680. Finally, Defendants claimed Schroeder's action should be dismissed because *Schroeder failed to* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Court of Appeals found Petitioners waived their rights. Waiver is the voluntary relinquishment of a known right. There is nothing voluntary about the relinquishment of Petitioners' rights in this case. It is true that the request for preliminary injunction was not filed until 3 days before the sale, but the trustee was notified 11 days before the sale of the basis upon which Petitioners claimed the sale was unlawful. The Trustee sandbagged Petitioners for three days before informing Petitioners that they did not intend to postpone or cancel the sale. It took pro se Petitioners several days thereafter to figure out what to do and do it. Quality's counsel was at the preliminary injunction hearing and chose to argue that he had not gotten sufficient notice. The trial court agreed and dismissed the case. Though Petitioners protested, we were not given the opportunity to argue our position.

give five (5) days' notice of his attempt to enjoin the sale. The Court disposed of these arguments summarily:

We emphasize the obvious. If Schroeder's land was agricultural, then not only did the trustee not have authority to proceed with an nonjudicial foreclosure, but the very statute upon which the trustee relies to support its five-day notice requirement, RCW 61.24.130(2), is inapplicable.

Schroeder, 297 P.3rd at 685.

Based on the plain language of RCW 61.24.030(2), the Court held that if the land was "agricultural," the trustee had no legal authority to foreclose non-judicially, and the parties could not waive the statute. *Id.*, at 686. The Court then reversed the lower court rulings, reinstated Schroeder's damage claims and ordered the trial court to vacate the foreclosure sale if the trial court determined the property was agricultural land.

Both *Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, NA, No. 89132-0 (2014) and *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.* 90509-6 (2015) revolved around the trustees' violations of yet another subsection of RCW 61.24.030 -- RCW 61.24.030(7). Both cases resulted in reversals of lower court rulings because the trustees, respectively, failed to obtain unambiguous proof that the entity claiming to be the beneficiary of the deed of trust was the "owner" of the obligation secured by the deed of trust.

Additional proof that a trustee's violation of any one of the subsections of RCW 61.24.030 destroys the viability of a non-judicial

foreclosure proceeding can be found in the suit the Washington

Attorney General ("AG") filed against Quality in February 2014.<sup>13</sup>

On February 18, 2014, the AG sued Quality for violating a provision of RCW 61.24.030 -- RCW 61.24.030(6) (failure of the trustee to maintain a Washington office throughout the foreclosure process). Barely a month later, on March 21, 2014, Quality entered into a consent decree with the AG. Quality made the following concessions under threat of pending litigation: (1) agreed to pay \$250,000 to homeowners whose homes were foreclosed upon between January 1, 2014 and February 27, 2014; (2) agreed to pay \$25,000 in attorney fees to the AG; and (3) postponed all trustee's sales for six weeks, until April 4, 2014.

The Cox Court declared the sale unlawful because of a violation of the requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(4); the Schroeder Court declared the sale unlawful because of a violation of the requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(2); the Lyons and Trujillo Courts, respectively, declared the respective sales unlawful because of violations of requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(7); and Quality "voluntarily" consented to pay \$275,000 in damages and fees and to forego foreclosing any properties in the State of Washington for a six week period because of multiple violations of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> State v. Quality Loan Services of Washington, No. 14-2-06236-2 SEA (2014) <sup>14</sup> Id.

requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(6).

In other words, in *Cox, Schroeder, Lyons*, and *Trujillo*, this Court has already ruled that a violation of the requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in any one of three of the eight subsections of RCW 61.24.030 -- .030(2), .030(4), and .030(7) – invalidates a sale. And, in *State v. Quality*, Quality has conceded that a violation of a fourth subsection of RCW 61.24.030 -- .030(6) – results in an invalidation of a foreclosure proceeding. There is no logical or legal reason why the result should be different for a violation of .030(1), .030(3), .030(5), or .030(8).

Because of multiple violations of the requirements of RCW 61.24.030(8), Petitioners are asking the Court to accept review, employ the same reasoning that was correctly employed in *Cox*, *Schroeder*, *Lyons*, and *Trujillo*, and reverse the lower court rulings.

### 1. Waiver

The Court of Appeals references all eight violations cited by Petitioners. *Leahy*, No. 72065-1 at 8-9. It never asserts that any one of the eight alleged violations is not a violation of RCW 61.24.030(8). And it does not claim that in the absence of waiver the violations would be legally insufficient. Instead, the court avoids evaluating the consequences of the violations by holding that, consistent with the holding in *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003),

Petitioners waived their right to challenge the deficiencies because they failed to file suit and move to restrain the sale until 3 days before the sale occurred. Leahy, No. 72065-1 at 13.

This Court has already determined that violations of RCW 61.24.030 cannot be waived because the requirements of RCW 61.24.030 are not rights or privileges of the borrower; they are limitations on the authority of the trustee to foreclose. *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 693 P.2d 683 (1985); and *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group*, *LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013). Petitioners may not have moved as quickly as an experienced foreclosure lawyer would have moved, but Petitioners moved as quickly as they possibly could to protect their rights. Not allowing Petitioners to even be heard was very unfair.

## 2. Non-Judicial Foreclosure Process

The non-judicial foreclosure process in Washington is one process with three indivisible, statutorily mandated steps: (1) transmission of a NOD (RCW 61.24.030(8)); followed by at least 30 days by (2) recording of a NOTS (RCW 61.24.030(8)); followed by at

is If waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right, waiver did not occur in this case. Petitioners, acting pro se, delivered a letter to the trustee *eleven days* before the sale. The letter stated, in great detail, each of the violations later raised in the complaint and motion for preliminary injunction. So the trustee had more than five days' of actual notice of the preliminary injunction hearing, just not in the right form. Both the trial court and appellate court have exhorted form over substance. There has never been any intent on the part of Petitioners to waive Petitioners' right to challenge the sale.

least 90 days by (3) the actual sale of the property (RCW 61.24.040(1)(a). If the property does not sell on the date set by the recorded NOTS, then, pursuant to RCW 61.24.040(6), the trustee can continue the sale for up to 120 days without reissuing the statutory notices.

When the process is terminated, either voluntarily or by operation of law, each of the three steps in the process is terminated. It is one process with three inseparable steps. Not a process consisting of three discrete, unconnected steps. Each step in the process, except the first, depends on the step that comes before it in the process for its validity. If one step is not taken, or is taken in violation of the DTA, the step that follows it in the process may not lawfully be taken. Consequently, when the process is extinguished, voluntarily or by operation of law, of necessity each of the steps in the process is extinguished as well.

The so-called April 9, 2010 NOD did not contain some of the information *required* by RCW 61.24.030(8)(a) – (l) for the creation of a lawful NOD. In the absence of that information the April 9<sup>th</sup> so-called NOD was not lawful. Under the DTA, an unlawful NOD is no NOD at all. Hence, a lawful NOD has never been issued in this case.

Additionally, on or about April 9, 2010 the April 9<sup>th</sup> so-called NOD arguably did contain accurate, itemized statements of the amounts in arrears, and other charges, costs, and fees. But the April 9<sup>th</sup>

so-called NOD did not contain accurate itemized statements of the amounts in arrears and other charges, costs, and fees in July 2012 when Quality made the second attempt to foreclose; or in September 2012 when Quality made the third attempt to foreclose.

In both July and September 2012 the financial information in the April 9th so-called NOD was more than 2 years out of date. Also, because the so-called NOD was never reissued, the 30-day period mandated by RCW 61.24.030(8) during which the borrower has the right to pay-off the amounts in arrears, and other charges, costs, and fees, and thereby prevent the trustee from ever gaining the legal authority to record a notice of trustee's sale was granted to Petitioners during the original foreclosure proceeding, but was not granted during the second or third foreclosure proceedings.

Thirty days before the trustee recorded NOTS 2 (the NOTS recorded on July 21, 2012) the amount necessary to reinstate the note and DOT was a multiple of the amount stated in the April 9, 2010 NOD. The discrepancy was even greater with respect to NOTS 3 (the NOTS recorded on September 19, 2012).

Pursuant to RCW 61.24.030(8), to be considered a lawful NOD, the NOD must contain a statement designated clearly and conspicuously showing the *current* total amount necessary to reinstate the note and DOT. The trustee, prior to recording the NOTS, must also provide the borrower with a minimum of 30 days to pay the

outstanding amount, and thereby deny the trustee authority to record a NOTS. Neither one of these requirements of RCW 61.24.030(8) were met in the second or third foreclosure proceeding.

This is the fallacy of the Court of Appeals' position. If the NOD need never be reissued, then no matter how many times the trustee conducts foreclosure proceedings against a property over a span of years, the borrower is entitled to know how much he will have to pay to reinstate the loan prior to the recording of a NOTS only once – during the original foreclosure proceeding. Additionally, no matter how many foreclosure proceedings are conducted over a span of years, the borrower is entitled to know the amount in arrears 30 days in advance of the recording of a NOTS only once – during the original foreclosure proceeding. Even if, as in this case, the current foreclosure proceeding is conducted more than 2 years after the original foreclosure proceeding.

What if ownership of the loan changes hands over the years? Or the owner's address changes? Or the servicer changes? Or the servicer's address or phone number changes? None of these contingencies is unusual.

RCW 61.24.030(8) requires the trustee to provide each of these pieces of information, accurately, to a borrower prior to the recording of a NOTS. If, as the Court of Appeals ruled, the NOD need never be reissued, there will be thousands of cases, and no doubt have already

been thousands of cases, in which the information required to be provided by RCW 61.24.030(8) simply is not provided. The Washington Legislature clearly did not intend such a result.

#### VI CONCLUSION

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