RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 13, 2015, 10:42 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92381-7

Court of Appeals No. 72065-1-1



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM AND SHALAWN LEAHY,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

V,

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lance E. Olsen, WSBA No. 25130 Kathy Shakibi, WSBA No. 49381 MCCARTHY & HOLTHUS, LLP Attorneys for Respondent, Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington 108 1st Ave. S., Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 596-4843 (206) 319-9100 ext. 2725

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

"In light of the function served by the notice of default as compared to the notice of trustee's sale, it would not make sense to interpret the act as requiring reissuance of the notice of default. "The purpose of the notice of default is to notify the debtor of the amount he owes and that he is in default." Koegel v. Prudential Mut. Sav. Bank, 51 Wn.App. 108, 112, 752 P.2d 385, review denied, 111 Wn.2d 1004 (1988). The original notice serves that purpose. The notice of trustee's sale, by contrast, must be recorded to give notice to the world that a foreclosure sale is scheduled for a specific date. The sale can be continued, but not beyond the 120-day period. Once the 120-day period expires, a new trustee's sale must be scheduled and a new notice of sale must be issued

and recorded to ensure that potential buyers are informed of the new sale date." (*Leahy* *6,7.)

As the Supreme Court recently confirmed and reiterated in *Brown v.*Dep't of Commerce, 2015 Wash. LEXIS 1191 *3:

"We now recognize the DTA promotes three objectives: "First, the nonjudicial foreclosure process should remain efficient and inexpensive. Second, the process should provide an adequate opportunity for interested parties to prevent wrongful foreclosure. Third, the process should promote the stability of land titles." Bain v. Metro. Mortg.Grp., Inc., 175 Wn2d 83, 94, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (quoting Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985))."

For nonjudicial foreclosures in the state of Washington, it is not custom and practice to issue more than one notice of default, when a sale does not complete within 120 days, thereby necessitating issuance of additional notices of sale. If a trustee were to deviate from the plain language of the DTA, which requires a notice of default be issued once, without assigning any expiration date, such a trustee would face a plethora of litigation for having strayed from the letter and spirit of the DTA, and for upsurging the cost of a nonjudicial foreclosure, needlessly. Reissuing a notice of default will escalate the cost of a nonjudicial foreclosure, due to the mailing, personal service or posting requirements, thus defeating a fundamental objective of the DTA, which is for nonjudicial foreclosures to remain efficient and inexpensive.

The Petition for Review appears to blur a notice of default with other types of notices or a reinstatement quote. This is evident in the following argument:

"What if ownership of the loan changes hands over the years? Or the owner's address changes? Or the servicer changes? Or the servicer's address or phone number changes? None of these contingencies is unusual." (Petition for Review 21)

If the ownership of the loan changes, notice is sent to borrowers per Title 15 USC section 1641(g). If the servicer of the loan changes, notice is sent to borrowers per Title 12 USC section 2605 (b). And, if a borrower needs a reinstatement or payoff quote, they can request and receive one per RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX). In fact, RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) mandates that language regarding reinstating a loan and obtaining reinstatement figures be included in a "notice of trustee's sale," of which the Leahys received three. Per RAP Rule 10.4(c), RCW 61.24.040 is included in the Appendix enclosed herein.

Given the function of a notice of default in the context of a nonjudicial foreclosure, and the DTA's requirement that it only be issued once, with no assigned expiration date, no Washington appellate or Supreme Court opinion has held that a notice of default need be issued more than once. Thus, there is no conflict between the *Leahy* Appellate

Decision and any other Washington appellate or Supreme Court decision, as further discussed below.

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict With Any

Decision of the Supreme Court.

The Petition for Review cites a total of seven Supreme Court cases: Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Wash., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560 (2012), Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383 (1985), Lyons v. U.S. Bank NA, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014), Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214 (2003), Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94 (2013), Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 183 Wn.2d 820 and Udall v. T.D. Escrow Servs., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, none of which support the Leahys' position or conflict with the Leahy Appellate Decision, as analyzed below.

In *Albice*, the borrowers entered into a forbearance agreement to cure a default. Each of the forbearance payments were accepted except for the last, and the trustee sale completed more than 120 days after the scheduled sale date listed in the notice of sale. The borrowers reasonably believed that their last payment would be accepted, and lacked ground to restrain the sale, therefore, did not waive their challenge by failing to pursue presale remedies under RCW 61.24.040(1)(f).

Albice is distinguishable from the instant case on a few points. First, the sale in Albice was in violation of the DTA, for having been continued for a period more than 120 days. By contrast, three notices of sale were issued in the Leahys case, and sale completed on the date listed in the third notice of sale (CP 390 $\pi\pi$ 12, 14, 391 π 16, 392 π 24, 420, 424.) Next, the borrowers in Albice were not aware of ground to enjoin the sale preforeclosure, thereby did not waive their right to challenge a sale afterward. In contrast, the Leahys knew they were going to challenge the sale and threatened to do so (CP 392 $\pi\pi$ 21-22.)

Waiver is a fundamental and incurable flaw that carries throughout the Leahys contentions. The Leahys allege that the Notice of Default failed to contain all the information required by RCW 61.24.030(8), including the address for the beneficiary, the telephone number of the loan servicer, the exact amount needed to reinstate the loan, and the correct identification of Chase as successor to Washington Mutual Bank (Petition for Review 9, 10.) Assuming these allegations amount to an alleged material violation of the DTA, this claim fails at the outset because the Leahys have waived their right to bring any post-sale challenge by failing to avail themselves of the presale remedies outlined in RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX).

Waiver is an equitable principle that can apply to defeat a party's legal rights where the facts support an argument that the party relinquished his rights by delaying in asserting or failing to assert an otherwise available adequate remedy. *Albice* at 569. Courts, including the Washington Supreme Court, have found waiver in a foreclosure setting where facts support is application. *Frizzell v. Murray*, 179 Wn.2d 301, 307 (2013) (finding that plaintiff waived her right to contest the nonjudicial foreclosure by failing to restrain the sale); *Plein* at 229 (finding that plaintiff waived objections to the foreclosure proceeding by failing to obtain a preliminary injunction).

Waiver of a post-sale challenge occurs where a party (1) received notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to the foreclosure prior to the sale, and (3) failed to bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale. *Plein* at 227. The Washington Supreme Court has stated that adequate remedies to prevent wrongful foreclosure exist in the presale remedies allowed by the DTA, and thus it has found waiver in these circumstances furthers the goals of providing an efficient and inexpensive foreclosure process and promoting the stability of land titles. Id at 228.

One such case is *Frizzell* decided in December 2013. Similar to the borrower in *Frizzell*, the Leahys received notice of their right to enjoin the sale and they identify three separate Notice of Sale that they received. (Petition for Review 10, 11, 12.) Each of the three Notices of Sale, which mirror the language recommended in the DTA, contained within them the following paragraph:

"Anyone having any objections to this sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130. Failure to bring such a lawsuit may result in a waiver of any proper grounds for invalidating the Trustee's sale." (CP 421, 425, 433.)

Thus, the Leahys were aware of their right to enjoin the January 18, 2013 sale no later than September 19, 2012, some four months prior to the scheduled sale, and potentially as early as July 2010. Second, the Leahys had knowledge of their asserted defenses prior to the sale. The Leahys acknowledged receiving the April 2010 Notice of Default, and therefore were in possession of the facts necessary to determine whether it contained the statutorily required information (Petition for Review 9.) Finally, the Leahys failed to timely bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale. The Leahys did seek a court order enjoining the sale and their request was denied. (CP 392 $\pi\pi$ 22-23, 502.)

The Leahys should have been aware of their claims many monthseven years-before the January 18, 2013 sale day. In fact, the Leahys contacted Quality with threats to file an action on December 27, 2012 and January 11, 2013. (CP 392 $\pi\pi$ 21-22.) Instead of seeking a restraining order at that time, the Leahys waited until the day before the sale, in violation of statute, to seek an injunction. (CP 502.) Their requested injunction was denied, and sale proceeded.

"Under the factual circumstances of this case," it is indisputable that the Leahys received notice of their right to enjoin the sale, had actual or constructive notices of the defenses they offer now well before the sale, and failed to act. Accordingly, the Leahys' delay prevents them from now asserting a claim based on the content of the Notice of Default.

The next Supreme Court opinions cited by the Leahys are *Udall* and *Cox*. (Petition for Review 13.) In the *Udall* case an error in the opening bid amount caused the property to be sold for approximately \$100,000 less than the true opening bid. There, the trustee did not issue a trustee's deed upon sale, and the Supreme Court held the trustee could not withhold delivery unless the sale was void due to a procedural irregularity, and insufficiency of price was not such an irregularity.

The *Udall* case has no similarity with the instant case and is not on point. It appears the Leahys have cited the case in support of the premise that a procedural irregularity invalidates the sale. However, the *Udall* fact pattern is inapposite and its opinion upholds the sale.

In *Cox*, the plaintiffs financed a swimming pool with a promissory note and deed of trust. The pool malfunctioned causing sewer backup and the plaintiffs sued for damages. While the lawsuit was pending, a foreclosure sale completed and the property went to a third party purchaser for a price significantly lower than the appraised value. There the Court conceded that the plaintiffs did not take appropriate steps to halt the sale; nevertheless, the Court held the sale was void because the trustee should have postponed the sale pending resolution of the underlying lawsuit.

Two factors distinguish *Cox* and make it inapplicable. First, *Cox* is a 1985 opinion, issued at a time when a trustee by statute was a fiduciary. The opinion in *Cox* has been superseded by the 2008 amendment to the DTA, adding that a trustee shall have no fiduciary obligation. Secondly, the trustee of the *Cox* deed of trust was also the attorney for the corporation that installed the swimming pool and was the beneficiary of the deed of trust. That fact created a conflict of interest for the *Cox* trustee/attorney.

Cox's fact pattern is inapplicable here, and its holding has been superseded by the 2008 DTA amendment.

The Leahys next cite *Schroeder* in support of the premise that "...a violation of any one of the eight subsections of RCW 61.24.030 would result in invalidation of the sale." (Petition for Review 14). In *Schroeder*, the nature of the borrower's property was agricultural land, and the lender and borrower had entered into a contract to waive the statutory requirement that agricultural land be foreclosed judicially, and the trustee had proceeded with a nonjudicial foreclosure. The *Schroeder* opinion held that the parties to a deed of trust may not contract to waive the statutory requirement that agricultural land be foreclosed judicially. (*Schroeder* 98.) In *Schroeder*, a trustee's nonjudicial foreclosure of agricultural land would have been unauthorized. Unlike *Schroeder*, the property in the instant action is residential, non-owner occupied and subject to nonjudicial foreclosure.

The Leahys additionally appear to cite to *Schroeder* in support of the contention that they could not have waived their statutory right to challenge the sale. The Leahys argue that Quality sandbagged them for three days before informing them that sale would not be continued or

⁶ Notably in *Schroeder* the trustee that nonjudicially foreclosed on agricultural land was also the attorney for the lender. *Schroeder* at 98.

cancelled. (Petition for Review 14, footnote 12). There has been no sandbagging here. The Notice of Default is dated April 9, 2010 (CP 389 π 4, 395.), and three Notices of Sale were issued in July 2010 (CP 390 π 12, 420.), July 2012 (CP 391 π 15, 429.) and September 2012. (CP 391 π 16.) Each Notice of Sale advised the Leahys that they could exercise their right to enjoin the sale. Since the Leahys base their contention on the Notice of Default issued in 2010, they had a matter of months, if not years, to enjoin the sale. Unlike the *Schroeder* case, no one asked the Leahys to forgo any statutory right. The Leahys failed to exercise their statutory right.

The Leahys additionally cite to *Lyons* and *Trujillo* in a short paragraph stating that both cases "...revolved around the trustees' violation of yet another subsection of RCW 61.24.030—RCW 61.24.030(7)." (Petition for Review 15). *Lyons* and *Trujillo* were companion cases in which a trustee sale had not completed, thus, waiver of rights under RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) were not at issue. *Lyons* at 781, 782; *Trujillo* at 834. At issue in *Lyons* and *Trujillo* were the beneficiary declarations and whether the trustee could rely on them. The Leahys make no allegation regarding the beneficiary declaration in the instant action. *Lyons* and *Trujillo* do not address a waiver under RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) and do not involve a completed sale. Similar to all the other Supreme Court cases

cited in the Petition for Review, *Lyons* and *Trujillo* are not in conflict with the *Leahy* Appellate Decision.

C. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not in Conflict With

Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Petition for Review does not cite to any Washington appellate cases. In addition to the seven Supreme Court cases discussed above, the Petition references *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Pietranico*, 928 N.Y.S. 2d 818 (N.Y. Supr. Ct. 2011), which is a case out of New York. Additionally there is reference to *State v. Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington*, No. 14-2-06236-2 SEA (2014), which is not an appellate case. The Leahys cite this case to argue that Quality has entered into an agreement with the Washington Attorney General regarding sales that occurred between January 1, 2014 and February 27, 2014. (Petition for Review 16) The Leahy sale completed on January 18, 2013 ((CP 392 π 24.) and does not fall within the category of sales covered under the Attorney General Agreement.

D. The Petition for Review Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial

Public Interest.

The Petition for Review attempts to show a public interest by stating:

"If, as the Court of Appeals ruled, the NOD need never be reissued, there will be thousands of cases, and no doubt have already been thousands of cases, in which the information required to be provided by RCW 61.24.030(8) is not provided. The Washington Legislature clearly did not intend such result," (Petition for Review at 21, 22)

The Leahys have limited their two issues presented for review to the "...factual circumstances of this case..." (Petition for Review 8), which involve failure to timely exercise a statutory right regarding a non-owner occupied property that has been purchased by a third party. The Petition for Review fails to show any other case which has the "factual circumstances of this case." Since the Petition is limited to the factual pattern of this case, which are rather uncommon, it does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Quality respectfully requests that the Court decline the Petition for Review.